1983

Doris C. Rucker v. Dale E. Rucker : Brief of Appellant

STATEMENT OF THE NATURE OF THE CASE

This is an appeal from a judgment and decree and the adverse ruling on Appellant's Motion to Set Aside Judgment, in the Fourth Judicial District Court, in and for Utah County, the Honorable George E. Ballif, presiding. This appeal is pursuant to Rule 72 of the Utah Rules of Civil Procedure.

DISPOSITION IN THE LOWER COURT

The court below entered a default judgment and decree of divorce in the above-entitled matter on November 18, 1981. Subsequently, appellant and respondent, by and through their then respective counsel, stipulated and agreed to set aside the default judgment in certain particulars. On December 23, 1982, the court entered a decree awarding respondent child support and items of real and personal property.

On January 5, 1983, appellant moved the court to set aside the decree rendered on December 23, 1982, which motion was denied on January 26, 1983.

RELIEF SOUGHT ON APPEAL

Appellant seeks a reversal of the denial of his Motion to set aside the default judgment and decree below and a remand to the lower court for a trial on the merits.

STATEMENT OF THE FACTS

On November 12, 1981, a hearing on a default proceeding in a divorce action brought by respondent against Plaintiff was held in the Fourth Judicial District Court, the Honorable George E. Ballif presiding. The court awarded respondent a decree of divorce consistent with the respondent's complaint (R.20,28-30).

Subsequently, respondent retained counsel and at that time counsel for appellant and counsel for respondent stipulated and agreed to set aside the default judgment with regard to certain particulars (R.31). Initially, the court refused to sign the order based on the stipulation and agreement to set aside the default judgment and decree (R.32).

However, on January 26, 1982, counsel for appellant and counsel for respondent met in informal conference in Judge Ballif's chambers. The court granted the stipulation with regard to the distribution of real and personal property, and alimony but left intact the decree of divorce divorcing appellant and respondent, awarding to respondent the custody of the parties

minor child, and ordering appellant to pay child support for the minor child in the amount of two hundred fifty dollars monthly (R.33).

On November 12, 1982, counsel for appellant, Nick Colessides, moved to withdraw as counsel, which motion was granted. The court advised appellant to obtain the services of new counsel, and ordered the trial date of November 30, 1982 vacated, and reset the trial for January 5, 1983 at 2:00 p.m. (R.106) Mr. Collesides then sent appellant a letter, informing appellant of the trial date in the divorce action, January 5, 1983 (R.122).

After Mr. Colessides' withdrawal, appellant contacted Wayne B. Watson about representing him. On or about December 29, 1982, appellant received a letter from Mr. Watson informing him that Mr. Watson would not be available to try the case on January 5, 1983, and also informing appellant that according to Mr. Watson's investigation, the date of January 5, 1983 was a firm trial setting (R.123).

At no time did appellant receive any notice, either written or oral, of a change in the trial date (R.121). Notwithstanding the lack of notice to appellants, a trial in absentia was held on December 22, 1982, and appellant received a copy of the findings of fact and conclusions of law in this case on or about December 30, 1983. It was appellant's intention to appear in this matter with counsel, and to defend his interests therein (R.121).

That there was confusion over the date of the trial in this matter is evident by the opening comments of the court on December 22, 1982:

THE COURT: The matter that's before the Court this morning is Rucker vs. Rucker, Civil No. 58,308.

This matter was noticed for hearing this morning at 9:30 a.m. A notice to that effect went out, according to the certificate in the file to both Richard L. Maxfield, Attorney at Law, Counsel for Plaintiff and Dale E. Rucker, who is, at this point, pro se. His prior attorney withdrew. The Court allowed him to withdraw. Nick Colessides. The Minutes entry says that the trial was re-set for January 5th, 1983. Why do I see that?

MRS. CHAPPLE (Deputy Clerk): Well, it was set for then. But you were going to be on vacation that week, so it was changed. (Tr.2)

Though respondent testified at trial that appellant was informed of the trial date of December 22, 1982, and that appellant had stated to her that he would be in court on that date, such testimony was clearly without foundation (R.121).

Appellant, on January 5, 1983, moved the court to set aside the judgment and decree entered after the trial in absentia, based on the fact that his failure to appear at trial was due to mistake, inadvertance, surprise or excusable neglect, and further that he was prevented from appearing by the fraud, misrepresentation, or other misconduct of respondent (R.116). This motion was denied by the court (R.127).

ARGUMENT

POINT I

THE TRIAL COURT ABUSED ITS DISCRETION IN DENYING APPELLANT'S MOTION TO SET ASIDE THE DEFAULT JUDGMENT AND DECREE, WHERE APPELLANT'S FAILURE TO APPEAR WAS THE RESULT OF SURPRISE OR EXCUSABLE NEGLIGENCE; OR FRAUD OR MISREPRESENTATION OF OTHER PARTY.

Rule 60(b) Utah Rules of Civil Procedure, provides in pertinent part, that:

On Motion and upon such terms as are just, the court may in furtherance of justice relieve a party or his legal representative from a final judgment, order, or proceeding for the following reasons: (1) mistake, inadvertance, surprise, or excusable neglect; . . . (3) fraud (whether heretofore denominated intrinsic or extrinsic), misrepresentation, or other misconduct of an adverse party; . . . or (7) any other reason justifying relief from the operation of the judgment.

Clearly, under this rule, the trial court should not act arbitrarily in denying a motion to set aside a default judgment, but should be generally indulgent toward permitting full inquiry and knowledge of disputes so they can be settled in conformity with law and justice. Mayhew v. Standard Gilsonite Co.,¹⁴ Utah 2d 52, 376 P.2d 941. Further, this court held in Mayhew, supra it is an abuse of discretion to refuse to vacate a default judgment where there is reasonable justification or excuse for the defendant's failure to appear and timely application is made to set aside. Supporting its holding in Mayhew, supra, setting aside a definite judgment rendered in a trial court, this Court stated that

It is undoubtedly correct that the trial court is endowed with considerable latitude of discretion in granting or denying such motions. However, it is also true that the court cannot act arbitrarily in that regard, but should be generally indulgent toward permitting full inquiry and knowledge of disputes so they can be settled advisedly and in conformity with law and justice. To clamp a judgment rigidly and irrevocably on a party without a hearing is obviously a harsh and oppressive thing. It is fundamental in our system of justice that each party to a controversy should be afforded an opportunity to present his side of the case.[376 P.2d at 952(footnotes omitted)]

In Central Finance Company v. Kynaston, 22 Utah 2d 284, 461 P.2d 316 (1969), this court quoted with approval from Mayhew, supra, in reversing the refusal of the trial court to set aside a default judgment where defense counsel, in his verified motion to set aside the default, attested that he had not received notice of trial. Further, this court also vacated a default judgment in Interstate-Excavating v. Agla Development, 611 P.2d 369 (1980). In Interstate Excavating, Supra, appellant did not receive notice of trial date from its attorney after the attorney's withdrawal from the case. The appellant did, however, immediately upon receipt of notice of default judgment, contact other counsel who thereafter proceeded with diligence to attack the default judgments. This court reasoned that under such circumstances the interests of justice would be best served by setting aside the default judgment.

Surely, then, under the instant facts, the default judgment rendered by the court below should be vacated.

Appellant received letters from two separate attorneys, one of whom had previously represented him in the divorce action in the court below, and one whom appellant had contacted about representing him in the matter. Both letters stated that trial in the divorce action in the court below would be on January 5, 1983. Appellant relied on this information, and intended to appear with counsel on January 5, 1983 got trial, since he received no notice of the change in trial date. Once he received a copy of the findings of fact and conclusions of law and decree in the matter rendered after the default hearing of December 23, 1983 appellant timely moved to set aside the judgment.

Therefore, consistent with this Court's decisions, appellant's mistake as to the date of the trial, based as it was on statements from two competent and able attorneys as to the trial date of January 5, 1983 being a firm date, was sufficient cause for setting aside the judgment and decree in the court below. The summary denial by the above court to set aside the judgment and decree was an abuse of discretion by that court.

In McKean v. Mountain View Memorial Estates, 17 Utah 2d 323, 411 P.2d 129 (1966), this Court, in setting aside a default judgment and remanding the case for trial on the merits, described the policy behind liberal application of procedural rules allowing for vacation of default judgments in holding that:

The object to be desired in this as in all cases the searching out of the truth and doing justice between the parties in regard to the controversy between them. To carry out that purpose it is the policy of the law to favor a trial on the merits and to afford both sides a full opportunity to present their evidence and contentions as to disputed issues so they may be disposed of on substantial rather than upon technical grounds. Accordingly courts should exercise caution in regard to default judgments and should be somewhat indulgent in setting them aside.

In Helgesen v. Inyangumia, 636 P.2d 1079 (Utah, 1981), the court held that the trial court abused its discretion in refusing to set aside a default judgment, reasoning that:

The decision to relieve a party from a final judgment under rule 60(b)(1) is subject to the discretion of the trial court. But discretion should be exercised in furtherance of justice and should incline towards granting relief in a doubtful case to the end that the party may have a hearing. Warren v. Dixon Ranch Co., 123 Utah 416, 260 P.2d 741 (1953). [636 P.2d at 1081]

636 P.2d at 1081. See 46 Am. Jur. 2d, Judgments.

Further, in Mendenhall v. Kingston, 610 P.2d 1287 (Utah, 1980) this Court noted with approval the effect of Rule 60(b) of the Utah Rules of Civil Procedure:

There is no doubt about the salutary purposes of Rule 60(b) to redress any injustices that may have resulted because of excusable neglect, or the wrongs of an opposing party. Nor that Rule 60(b) should be liberally construed to effectuate that purpose. [610 P.2d at 1289.]

While this Court has noted that this rule should be liberally applied, it has also held that for the trial court's refusal to vacate a valid judgment to be an abuse of discretion, public policy demands more than a mere statement the movant did not have his day in court. Public policy demands that the movant show that

he has used due diligence and that he was prevented from appearing by circumstances beyond his control. State in interest of Summers Children v. Wulffenstein, 560 P.2d 331 (Utah, 1977). In the instant matter, appellant has met this burden, since his failure to appear in court on December 22, 1982 was due to his honest and excusable mistake of believing the erroneous information he received from two well-respected and well-qualified attorneys.

This Court has also determined that, as a general proposition, one who seeks to vacate a default judgment must proffer some defense of at least sufficient ostensible merit as would justify a trial of the issue thus raised. Downey State Bank v. Major-Blakeney Corporation, 545 P.2d 507 (Utah, 1976). The trial courts, in the default judgment and decree, awarded to respondent all of the properties formerly owned by appellant and respondent during their marriage. Certainly, were appellant allowed to proceed on the merits, his interests would be better defended, and there is a substantial probability that appellant would be awarded more than merely his automobiles, mechanic tools, retirement income, and personal effects and belongings.

Not only would appellant's interests be better protected in a trial on the merits, but in addition, respondent would suffer no prejudice thereby. Respondent would be able to put on her evidence in an adversarial proceeding, and the matter would be determined in conformity with law and justice.

Under facts similar to those at issue here, the Oregon Supreme Court, in Hanthorn v. Oliver, 51 P. 440 (Ore., 1897) set

aside a default judgment on grounds of excusable mistake and honest misunderstanding by the defendant. In Hanthorn, supra, defendant was informed by his counsel on Monday the case was set for Tuesday, and, believing that Tuesday of the next week was intended, he attended at that time, and then, for the first time found that judgment had gone against him by default.

Other jurisdictions also consistently regard accident, surprise, or unavoidable casualty or misfortune as a sufficient ground to vacate a judgment. The New Mexico Supreme Court, in Springer Corporation v. Herrera, 510 P.2d 1072 (N.M., 1973), determined that "because courts universally favor trial on the merits, slight abuse of discretion in refusing to set aside a default judgment will often be sufficient to justify reversal of the order," 510 P.2d at 1074, and that the trial court must apply a liberal standard in determining (1) whether there is excusable neglect and (2) whether the defendants have a meritorious defense.

In Schulman v. Bongberg-Whitney Electric, Inc., 645 P.2d 41 (Nev., 1982) the Nevada Supreme Court held that the decision to grant or deny a motion to set aside a default judgment rests with the sound discretion of the trial court, and that such decision must not be arbitrary or cavalier but must be exercised with guidelines established by the State Supreme Court. One of those guidelines is that cases should be heard on the merits whenever possible.

Appellant submits that since his complete reliance on

erroneous information provided him by two respected attorneys as to the date of his trial is reasonable justification or excuse for his failure to appear at trial on December 22, 1983, the trial court abused its discretion in denying his motion to set aside the default judgment and decree rendered after the trial held in Appellant's absence.

In the alternative, appellant submits that his failure to appear at the trial on December 22, 1982 was due to the fraud, or misrepresentation of respondent. Respondent testified at the trial held in appellant's absence that appellant was informed of the December 22, 1982 trial date, and the appellant had stated to her that he would be in court on that date. Appellant, however, has by affidavit sworn that such statements are entirely without foundation.

The only evidence as to appellant's knowledge of the date scheduled for the trial of this matter in the lower court other than the statements of appellant and respondent are the letters of Mr. Colessides and Mr. Watson to appellant, indicating that the date of trial was to be January 5, 1983 at 2:00 p.m. Of particular importance is the fact that the letter from Mr. Watson is dated December 27, 1982, five days after the trial in absentia was held and only nine days before January 5, 1983. Mr. Watson, in his letter, stated that he checked the date of trial, and found that January 5, 1983 was a firm setting.

Respondent's testimony that appellant knew of the change in trial date is suspect, at very least, given both appellant's sworn

statement that he had no such knowledge, and the letters of counsel that the January date was a firm date.

At the very least, given the liberal policy of this Court setting aside default judgments where one party has not been allowed a hearing, appellant should be given the benefit of the doubt here. Respondent's self-serving testimony as to appellant's knowledge of the change in trial date is uncorroborated. Appellant's sworn statement that he had no knowledge of the change is corroborated by two letters from competent attorneys.