Brigham Young University Law School

BYU Law Digital Commons

Utah Supreme Court Briefs (1965 –)

1983

Doris C. Rucker v. Dale E. Rucker: Brief of Respondent

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

ARGUMENT

POINT I

THE TRIAL COURT MAINTAINS CONSIDERABLE DISCRETION IN DECIDING WHETHER TO GRANT OR DENY RELIEF FROM A DEFAULT JUDGMENT, AND SUCH DISCRETION REQUIRES CONSIDERATION OF THE TOTALITY OF THE CIRCUMSTANCES, ENTERTAINING BOTH LEGAL AND EQUITABLE FACTORS.

Rule 60(b) of the Utah Rules of Civil Procedure provides in pertinent part, that:

On motion and upon such terms as are just, the court may in furtherance of justice relieve a party or his legal representative from a final judgment, order, or proceeding....

This rule allows the court considerable latitude in denying or granting relief from a refusal to reopen a default judgment. By stressing that the court "may in the furtherance of justice," it is clear that the courts have the authority to resolve a conflict through the wise use of law and to temper the decision with equitable terms that are just. It is also clear that the court has complete discretion since it "may" grant relief, but it is not required to do so. To grant or deny relief is not to be based on the courts arbitrary whim, but is intended to be based on the mature reflection of the totality of the circumstances.

The most informative precedent concerning this appeal is <u>Chrysler v</u>

<u>Chrysler</u>, 303 P.2d 995, 5 Utah 2d 415 (1956). Chrysler dealt with a husband-

plaintiff who suffered a default judgment when he failed to appear at trial. When the husband moved the trial court for relief from the judgment under Rule 60(b), he was refused. On appeal, this court recognized that "it is generally regarded as an abuse of discretion for a trial court to refuse to vacate a default judgment where timely application is made...to the end that cases be decided on their merits." 303 P.2d at 996, 5 Utah 2d at 417. The court went on to say that in a usual situation the refusal would be an abuse of discretion, but the circumstances of Chrysler took it outside the parameters associated with a usual case. This court found that the husband did not have clean hands when he came before the trial court asking for relief, nor had he pursued his action in good faith. The instant case is very similar to Chrysler; there has been a refusal to vacate a default judgment under Rule 60(b) and because of this the appellant claims there has been an abuse of discretion on the part of the trial court.

The court in <u>Chrysler</u> cited several factors that it considered in denying relief under Rule 60(b). These factors included the failure of the husband to be present at an earlier Order to Show Cause hearing, his indifference to the divorce decree entered in Utah while he pursued a separate divorce action in Nevada, and his failure to personally appear before the court when his Motion to set aside the judgment was heard.

In the instant case, there have been repeated instances where the appellant has failed to voluntarily comply with court orders, forcing the respondent to resort to legal means to gain what would normally be expected voluntarily from from the appellant. Two instances are illustrative of the lack of good faith on the part of the appellant. The first concerns the original divorce decree issued on November 18, 1981. The appellant was not present at this important hearing nor was he represented by counsel resulting in a default judgment

against him. The second instance occurred when the respondent was forced t_0 obtain a court order compelling the appellant to comply with a Motion for Discovery pursuant to Rule 37 of the Utah Rules of Civil Procedure.

against the respondent and her son in September 1982. The appellant was caby turning off the gas to the respondent's house. When the gas was turned off the pilot lights were extinguished, and when the gas was turned back on, the house filled with gas, creating a life-threatening environment. In order to avoid this hazardous situation, the respondent was forced to obtain an injunction which enjoined the appellant from turning off the gas, power or water.

In its decision, the <u>Chrysler</u> court stated, "(n)otwithstanding the policy of liberality in granting relief to persons against whom default judgments have been taken...it is not to be forgotten that Rule 60(b) under which such relief is granted states that the court may relieve a party from a final judgment in the 'furtherance of justice.' Manifestly the court should not follow the rule of indulgence toward the party in default when the effect would be to work an injustice or inequity upon the opposing party.

A prime requisite precedent to the granting of such relief is that the movant demonstrate that he comes to the court with clean hands and in good faith."

303 P.2d at 966, 5 Utah 2d at 418.

The instant case has been decided in favor of the respondent in November 1981, yet for the past two years the respondent has had to resort to legal action to obtain what is legally hers, each time tying up her time, energy and money. Surely to allow this case to continue on, especially when by doing the party with clean hands, pursuing a good faith action, would be inconvenienced, is unjust and inequitable. If this court were to analyze the

instant appeal considering only the law cited in the appellant's brief, it would be understandable if a decision were granted for the appellant. While the law cited by the appellant is good law, it is appropriate only as far as it goes, and in the instant case it does not go far enough. The analysis must go beyond pure legal means to invoke the equitable conscience of the court. Because this appellant has not shown good faith in his actions, and does not come before the court with clean hands, this court should follow the precedent established in Chrysler and affirm the lower court's decision denying relief under Rule 60(b).

In Warren v. Dixon Ranch Co., 260 P. 2d 741, 123 Utah 416 (1953), this court again upheld a lower court's refusal to vacate a default judgment through the use of Rule 60(b) of the Utah Rules of Civil Procedure. The Warren court decided that equitable issues must be considered, and if they prove sufficient they would offset the reopening of a default judgment allowing the case to be heard on the merits. Warren concerned a suit instituted to quiet title to land. Notice of the action was presented to a director and trustee of the defendant corporation. The director-trustee failed to notify the stockholders of the pending suit, and also failed to protect the interests of the corporation since it was not represented at trial and a default judgment was entered against it. The lower court refused a Rule 60(b) stockholder effort to have the default judgment reversed. The Warren court stated that "(e)quity considers factors which may be irrelevant in actions at law, such as the unfairness of a party's conduct, his delay in bringing or continuing the action, the hardship in granting or denying relief. Although an equity court no longer has complete discretion in granting or denying relief, it may exercise wide judicial discretion in weighing the factors of fairness and public convenience,

and this court on appeal will reverse the trial court only where an abuse of this discretion is clearly shown." 260 P.2d at 742, 123 Utah at 417.

The instant case presents equitable considerations for the court under each of the three categories mentioned in Warren: the unfairness of a parts conduct, his delay in bringing or continuing the action and the hardship in granting or denying relief. Since the respondent has already had the ruling decided in her favor, it would be unfair for her to relitigate the decision being forced to chance losing what she has gained. As previously mentioned. the appellant's conduct does not warrant special considerations from the court. To reopen the litigation after it seemed to finally be at an end would be unfair, especially since there is sworn testimony stating that not only did the appellant receive notice of the trial date change but it was discussed on several occasions. (Tr. at 8 and 9). There have also been several instances of delay since the instant case was initiated. The most notable examples have been the default judgments that have been entered against the appellant, one of which was reopened by stipulation, one of which has resulted in this appeal. Another delay occurred when discovery was held up until the respondent obtained a court order to compel the appellant's cooperation in this fundamental matter. Throughout the two years of this litigation, other deadlines have also passed delaying the expected support that the respondent had been awarded in her divorce decree. These deadlines concerned her alimon and child payments. It seems clear that delay is part of the appellant's strategy and it should not be rewarded on this appeal. Finally, if this case is reopened it will result in a hardship to the respondent. First, she will again be frustrated in her quest to have the money needed to support herself. By delaying the termination of this litigation it lengthens the time before

the respondent can rest knowing she has enough income to sustain herself, it increases the likelihood that a much-needed operation can be taken care of before the appellant's insurance coverage ends (Tr. at 9) and it increases the expense of time, energy and money which has already been greatly expended in this two-year divorce action. Because of these hardships, this court should follow the precedent decided in <u>Warren</u> and not vacate the refusal of the lower court to allow Rule 60(b) relief from a final judgment.

In addition to the discretion that is made available to the trial court, there is a presumption that the decision made by that court is correct. In Warren, it was stated, "this court will not reverse the trial court where it appears...that all elements were considered, merely because the motion could have been granted. This court will not substitute its discretion for that of the trial court in a case such as this." 260 P.2d at 744, 123 Utah 423. Because the trial court has had the chance to view the evidence, question and scrutinize the witnesses and to personally view each party and how their strategy is laid out, this presumption of correctness is justified. Because the trial court in this case has seen its development during a two year period, it would be completely justified to place the proper faith in the analysis used in denying the Rule 60(b) Motion.

Finally, this court has held that "the requirements of public policy demand more than a mere statement that a person did not have his day in court when full opportunity for a fair hearing was afforded to him or his legal representative. The movant must show that he has used due diligence and that he was prevented from appearing by circumstances over which he had no control." Airkem Intermountain, Inc. v. Parker, 513 P.2d 429, 431, 30 Utah 2d 65, 68 (1973). Airkem concerned a defendant who suffered a default

judgment and was refused relief upon Motion of Rule 60(b). The facts that led to the judgment included the defendant's counsel who attempted to withdo from the case on the date of trial (which was disallowed) and the inability of the counsel and his client to communicate for 10 days prior to the trial of Because of this confusion no one appeared on the defendant's behalf at trial This court ruled that the defendant should have been responsible for getting in touch with the attorney, and that the time period between when he was inform of the approximate date of the trial and the date of trial provided plenty of opportunity and the failure to do so did not show reasonable diligence. The instant case would show due diligence in relying on the letters stating the January 5 court date if this was all that the appellant had to rely on. But as has been noted before, notice of the change was sent by the court clerk. such notice has been received according to sworn testimony and knowledge of the new trial date was confirmed through conversation. (Tr. at 8 and 9). Therefore, due diligence cannot be shown by the appellant and this court should follow the precedent set forth in Airkem and affirm the lower court's refusal to grant relief.

POINT II

CASES THAT HAVE REVERSED THE LOWER COURT DECISION TO REFUSE RULE 60(b) RELIEF ARE CASES THAT ARE CLEARLY DISTINGUISHABLE FROM THE INSTANT CASE OR THOSE PREVIOUSLY CITED.

The appellant has point out that there are several instances where this court has not allowed a trial court refusal of a Rule 60(b) Motion to stand. These cases have not required this court to analyze the equitable factors and thus are the usual cases that Rule 60(b) was designed for, not the unusual cases where the totality of the circumstances had to be considered.

In Mayhew v. Standard Gilsonite Company, 376 P.2d 951, 14 Utah 2d 52 -1962), this court stated that the "situation is patently one of the very kind for which Rule 60(b) was designed to grant relief." 376 P.2d at 953, 14 Utah 2d at 55. In Mayhew, summons were presented to a man that had resigned as an officer of the corporation and thus had no authority to accept the summons or to commit the corporation to litigation. Because of the resulting confusion, and because the defendant-corporation had not tried to avoid the litigation, this court ordered the lower court refusal under Rule 60(b) to be vacated. Mayhew presented no evidence of delay, of unclean hands or lack of good faith on the part of the corporation and thus it is a usual case mentioned in Chrysler that would require the court to grant the Rule 60(b) Motion. Because the instant case provides circumstances of delay, bad faith and unclean hands, it must be analyzed through both legal and equitable factors.

Central Finance Company v. Kynaston, 452 P.2d 316, 22 Utah 2d 284 (1969) represents a case that was remanded to determine whether proper notice was provided to the defendant's counsel persuant to Rule 11 of the Rules of Practice of the Second Judicial District. Because the defendant's counsel was not present at the pretrial hearing when the court date was set, Rule 11 establishes that notice be immediately provided to the absent counsel by the clerk. Confusion arose whether this notice was properly made and the case was remanded to determine this question. In the instant case, the court has 'aken note that appellant, acting pro se on the date of mailing, was provided notice of the change in court dates. Since there is sworn testimony stating that the appellant received the trial change notice, and had made plans to be present at this new date the instant case need not be remanded. The Central Finance Company court left the impression that if there was no notice provided,

the case should be reversed; but if the notice had been given then the case should remain as decided by the lower court. Because of the facts in the instant case, this would lead to the lower court's decision to be upheld.

In <u>Interstate Excavating v. Agla Development</u>, 611 P.2d 369 (1980), the defendant suffered the withdrawal of his attorney. Upon this attorney's withdrawal, he mailed his ex-client notice of the upcoming trial date. The plaintiff's attorney also mailed notice of the trial date to the defendant. The defendant nor a representative, appeared at trial. Upon notification that a default judgment had been entered against him, the defendant contacted a new attorney and moved, in a timely manner, for Rule 60(b) relief claiming he never received notice of the trial date. The trial court was forced to weigh the knowledge that notice was sent to the defendant and his claim that he never received the notice. The trial court refused to vacate the default judgment and the case was appealed to this court, where because of the doubt of whether notice was received justified allowing the lower court decision to be set aside.

The instant case is similar to <u>Interstate Excavating</u> because the trial court has taken note that notice of the change in the trial date was properly mailed to the appellant, but he claims that he never received the notice. But there is one crucial difference between the cases: whether witnesses testified that the defendant (appellant) received the notice. In <u>Interstate Excavating</u>, there is no testimony stating that the notice was received but in the instant case, there is testimony stating that two witnesses saw the notice received. Again, there were no circumstances, as there are in the present case, that would require the equitable conscience of this court to be invoked.

The case of Helgeson v. Inyangumia, 636 P.2d 1079 (1981) states the problems that have arisen from the lack of professional courtesy on the part of counsel for the plaintiff. The plaintiff had suffered injuries in two separate accidents, and his counsel began negotiating with an insurance adjuster in order to settle the claims out of court. The plaintiff's attorney stated he would negotiate until the response date set for the complaint. The deadline passed without response from the adjuster and the attorney submitted the case to trial without notice to the adjuster resulting in a default judgment. The insurance company moved for Rule 60(b) relief but was denied. On appeal, this court held that the refusal was an abuse of discretion because "(t)he attorney was well aware that the adjuster and his company contested the amount sought by the plaintiff. With that knowledge, he must have expected that where he filed the lawsuits, the insurance comapny would defend them." 636 P.2d at 1081. And when the plaintiff's attorney entered the case for default without contacting the adjuster, especially when the adjuster was waiting on information from the attorney, this court felt this provided grounds for reopening the case and therefore an abuse of discretion by the lower court. In the instant case, there has been no reliance by the appellant on respondent's promises that has led to the default judgment. In fact, the promises that have been made concerning the trial have been made by the appellant (Tr. at 9).

It is also evident that equitable circumstances arose in <u>Helgesen</u> when the case was submitted for default judgment without notice. This court took the fotality of the circumstances in account and found against the party that had committed the inequitable act, allowing the case to be reopened to provide justice to the injured defendant. In the instant case, this court should also take the total situation into account and resolve its decision against the

party that has committed inequitable acts, the appellant, and allow the lower decision to be affirmed.

This court determined the question of whether Rule 60(b) should allow appeal on a judgment after five years, or in the alternative whether a new action could be initiated in Mendenhall v. Kingston, 610 P.2d 1287 (1980). This court first addressed itself to dictum praising the virtues of Rule 60(b) before deciding that the appeal was not timely and that the initiation of the new action would be barred by res judicata. This court did not address itself to any pertinent matters that would be of further help in the decision to the instant appeal.

In <u>State in Interest of Summers Children v. Wulffenstein</u>, 560 P.2d 331 (1977), this court decided that an incarcerated father, who had not provided additional information in three previous hearings, could not claim an abuse of discretion when he was not allowed a new hearing to present his "wishes" and "hopes" for his children rather than concrete information on his parental plant. This court summarized its findings by stating "(s)ince appellant's absence was a circumstance of his own volition, the...determination was not an abuse of discretion." 560 P.2d at 335. If this court finds that this appellant was absent as a circumstance of his volition, it should also find that the low court decision was not an abuse of discretion.

The instant case presents equitable considerations that requires analysis that goes beyond the superficial question of whether the lower court refusal to grant relief under Rule 60(b) can be reversed, to whether such relief should be granted in this particular situation. Because this appellant has not pursued his defense in good faith, nor come before the court with clean hands, it is respectfully submitted that the lower court decision be affirmed

This affirmation will provide justice to both parties, will terminate the Intigation for once and for all. If the case were remanded, the same decision would probably be reached because the appellant is not, and does not plan to pay alimony. An affirmation of the lower court refusal will alleviate further waste of time, energy and money.

CONCLUSION

Since the lower court is empowered with considerable discretion, and has obviously weighed the legal and equitable factors involved in this case, the decision reached upon the Rule 60(b) Motion is just and fair and should not be reversed. For this reason, the respondent respectfully requests that this court affirm the judgment below.